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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

JOHN J. CARNEY, in his capacity as
court-appointed receiver,
Plaintiff, No. 3:12-cv-00165 (SRU)

V.

FRANCISCO ILLARRAMENDI,
Defendant.

RULING ONMOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

John J. Carney, in his capigcas court-appointed reser for the Michael Kenwood
Group and certain affiliated entities (leatively, the “Receivership Entitieshfiled an eleven-
count complaint against Francisdlairamendi in an effort to recovassets stolen in the course
of lllarramendi’s Ponzi schenteThe receiver now has moved for summary judgment on five
counts of the Amended Complaint. For the follogvreasons, | grant tlieceiver’s motion with
respect to Counts Six, Seven, and Eleven of themdmad Complaint, as Weas with respect to
either Count One or Count Ten, but not both. | alloerreceiver ten days fibe a notice on the
docket stating whether he intends to pursue C@uet or Count Ten of the Amended Complaint.

The Clerk shall then enter judgment fbe receiver on thappropriate counts.

! The Receivership Entities include Highvi®eint Partners, LLC, Michael Kenwood Group,
LLC, MK Master Investments LP, MK Invesents, Ltd., MK Oil Ventures LLC, Michael
Kenwood Capital Management, LLC; Micha&nwood Asset Management, LLC; MK Energy
& Infrastructure, LLC; MKEI Solar, LP; MKAutomotive, LLC; MK Technology, LLC; Michael
Kenwood Consulting, LLC; MK Internation&ldvisory Services, LLC; MKG-Atlantic
Investment, LLC; Michael Kenwood Nuclearétgy, LLC; Mytcart, LLC; Tuol, LLC; MK
Capital Merger Sub, LLC; MK Special OpporttynFund; MK Venezuela, Ltd.; Short Term
Liquidity Fund I, Ltd. Am. Caonpl., Doc. No. 51, at 1.

2 The receiver also initially named lllarramesdiife, Maria Josephin@onzalez-Miranda, and

lllarramendi’s sister, Adela Mllarramendi, as defendantSeeAm. Compl., Doc. No. 51, at 1.
He later reached a settlemerith the other two defendantSeeDocs. Nos. 61 & 91.
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Standard of Review

Summary judgment is appropriate when the mecmonstrates that “there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and the movaeantigled to judgment as matter of law.” Fed. R.
Civ. P. 56(a). When ruling on a summary judgnrmantion, the court must “view the evidence in
the light most favorable to theon-moving party and draw all reasbit&inferences in its favor.”
Sologub v. City of New YQrR02 F.3d 175, 178 (2d Cir. 200@)drich v. Randolph Ctrl. Sch.
Dist., 963 F.2d 520, 523 (2d Cir. 1992) (court is requliiee“resolve all arbiguities and draw all
inferences in favor of the nonmoving party”"yhe burden of showing that no genuine factual
dispute exists rests upon the moving parGatlton v. Mystic Transp202 F.3d 129, 133 (2d
Cir. 2000). When a motion for summary judgrmes properly supported by documentary and
testimonial evidence, however, the nonmovingypaay not rest upon the mere allegations or
denials of the pleadings, but must present cieffit evidence supportingiposition “to require a
jury or judge to resolve the partiesfféring versions of ta truth at trial.”’Anderson v. Liberty
Lobby, 477 U.S. 242, 249 (1986J0lon v. Coughlin58 F.3d 865, 872 (2d Cir. 1995).

“The trial court’s function at this stage isitentify issues to beied, not decide them,”
Graham v. Long Island R.R. C&30 F.3d 34, 38 (2d Cir. 2000), and so “[o]nly when no
reasonable trier of fact couldhfi in favor of the non-moving parshould summary judgment be
granted.”"White v. ABCO Eng’g Corp221 F.3d 293, 300 (2d Cir. 2000). Summary judgment
therefore is improper “[w]hen reasonable pess@pplying the properdal standards, could
differ . . . on the basis of the evidence presentgdldgul 202 F.3d at 178. Nevertheless,

the mere existence of some allegeddattispute between the parties will not

defeat an otherwise properly supigal motion for summary judgment; the

requirement is that there be no genuine issueatérialfact. . . . Only disputes

over facts that might affect the outcerof the suit under éhgoverning law will
properly preclude the entry of summary judgment.



Anderson477 U.S. at 247-48.

“[A] complete failure of poof concerning an essentiaéeient of the nonmoving party’s
case necessarily renders all other facts imnadféand in such circumstances, there is “no
genuine issue as to any material faelotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986);
accord Goenaga v. March of Dimes Birth Defects Fouhtl.F.3d 14, 18 (2d Cir. 1995)
(movant’s burden satisfied if it can point to @psence of evidence to support an essential
element of nonmoving party’s claim). To presarigenuine” issue of ntarial fact and avoid
summary judgment, the record masintain contradictory evidentsuch that a reasonable jury

could return a verdict for the non-moving partriderson477 U.S. at 248.

. Background

Francisco lllarramendi worked as an investiredviser to certain hedge funds. Between
approximately 2006 and February 8, 2011, lllarmadielefrauded investors by operating a large-
scale Ponzi scheme. Plea Agreement, Bx. Eokas Decl., Doc. No. 98-5, at 18gdUnited
States v. lllarramend2015 WL 8664174, at *2 (D. Conn. Dec. 11, 2085{d, 677 F. App’x
30 (2d Cir. 2017) (summary order). Essentidllgrramendi solicited new investments in the
funds to pay earlier promised returnwile concealing—through use of fraudulent
documents and false representations—that the fliatigities greatly exceeded the true value of
their assets. Plea Agreement, DNo. 98-5, at 13. lllarramendi aléed to SEC investigators in
an attempt to conceal his miscondudt.at 13—-14.

On January 14, 2011, the SEC initiated a @etion against Illarramendi and various
businesses he controlled (the Reeeship Entities) for violations of sections 206(1), 206(2), and
206(4) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, 151C. § 80b-6(1), (2), &4); violation of the
SEC’s Rule 206(4)-8, 17 C.F.R. 275.206(4g8¢ unjust enrichment. Compl., Doc. NoSEC
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v. lllarramendj 3:11-cv-00078 (JBA). The SEC simultaneously filed a motion for a temporary
restraining order freezing Ileamendi’s assets. Doc. No.id, After a hearing, United States
District Judge Janet B. Arterton issued an ofteezing assets and appointed John J. Carney as
receiver for the Receivership Entities on February 3, 26&éDocs. Nos. 36, 66, & 6Td.

On March 7, 2011, lllarramendi was charge@ ifive-count criminal information with
wire fraud in violation of 18J.S.C. § 1343 (Counts One and Twsggurities fraud in violation
of 15 U.S.C. 88 78j(b) & 78f&nd 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (Couritree); investment adviser
fraud in violation of 15 U.S.C. 8§88 80b-6 & 8Qf-(Count Four); and aspiracy to obstruct
justice in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371 (Count Fivegelnformation, Ex. D to Fokas Decl., Doc.
No. 98-4. lllarramendi pleaded guilty &l five counts on the same dafplea Agreement, Doc.
No. 98-5. In an attached stipulation ofesfse conduct—signed by lllarramendi and his
attorney—Illarramendi acknowledg#uht he “engaged in a schemoedefraud his investors,
creditors and the [SEC] . by means of materially fatsand fraudulent pretenses,
representations and promiselsl’ at 13. Illlarramendi stipulated that he:

(a) used money provided by new investors to the Funds to pay out the
returns he promised to earlier investors;

(b) created fraudulent documents to mislead and deceive his investors,
creditors and the SEC about thestéance of thé-unds’ assets;

(c) made false representations to higeistors and creditors in an effort to
obtain new investments from them aodprevent them from seeking to
liquidate their investments;

(d) commingled the investmentseach individual hedge fund with
investments in the other hedge fundthout regard tdheir structure,
stated purpose or investment limitaits and thus, treated all investments
in the Funds as a single sourcetovide returns to investors; and

3 lllarramendi’s plea agreement was not filed on the docket until May 5, $egDoc. No. 10,
United States v. lllarramengdNo. 3:11-cr-00041 (SRU).
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(e) engaged in transactions that weot in the best interests of the Funds
and agreed to pay kickbacks to pessonnnected with those transactions.

Id. As a result of lllarramendi’misconduct, the hedge funds he managed and advised “ha[d]
outstanding liabilities that greatgxceed[ed] the true value of their assets, exposing the investors
and creditors to the risk slffering losses of hundreds of millions of dollatg.”

On May 10, 2011, the SEC filed a Second Amended Complaint and a second motion for
a temporary restraining order. Judge Arteterd a five-hour hearing on the SEC’s motion on
May 25, 2012 lllarramendi testified aength during that hearing and admitted that, after
incurring a $30 million trading loss in late 2005,dexided to “conceal the loss . . . and try to
‘raise as much money as possibldé&able to make it so that the gains from . . . the additional
money would eventiig cover the loss.” SEC v. lllarramendi260 F. Supp. 3d 166, 172 (D.
Conn. 2017) (quoting May 25, 2011 TRO Hr'g Tr., Dbio. 260, at 364 (hereinafter “TRO Hr'g
Tr.”)). He stated that he “tried to solveetproblem” by running “a ufied treasury function,”
through which “the money, no matter where ineafrom, was used either to invest in
transactions or to pay . . . invest that were lending to the potd. (quoting TRO Hr’'g Tr.,
Doc. No. 260, at 365). lllarramendi’s “comiimgy account” was used “for paying off other
investors that the pot owed money tll”’ (quoting TRO Hr'g Tr., Doc. No. 260, at 398). In
other words, “earlier investors [were] paid frdine investments of more recent investors”™—the

hallmark of a Ponzi schemiéberhard v. Marcu530 F.3d 122, 132 n.7 (2d Cir. 2008).

4 Judge Arterton subsequently granted the mdtom temporary restraining order by written
ruling on June 16, 2018ee SEC v. lllarramend2011 WL 2457734 (D. Conn. June 16, 2011).

® | take judicial notice ofllarramendi’s testimony as part of &wfficial court record of [another]
court in [my] jurisdiction in a case that is related to this odacgures v. U.S. R.R. Ret. Bd36
F.2d 34, 40 (2d Cir. 1984). | note that lllarraméndiatements could be offered at trial to
“prove the truth of the factsatked in them because they are admissions of an adverse Bagy.”
United States v. Russ802 F.3d 37, 43 (2d Cir. 2002)tfog Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(2)(A)).
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At the hearing, lllarramendi also “admittectthe received more in management fees
than he was entitled to and that the nggamaent fees paid . . . were ‘inflatedlitarramendi, 260
F. Supp. 3d at 173 (quoting TRO Hr’g Tr., Dd. 260, at 385). lllarramendi’s fees “were
calculated on the Net Asset Val(fNAV’) of each of the fundsthat he advised, and “the NAVs
as calculated . . . includgulofits from transactions . [that] were fictitious.d. (quoting TRO
Hr'g Tr., Doc. No. 260, at 384). lllarramendi “mdjeed] the numbers” at the end of each year
“so that [he] would receive more compensation tlegh) wlas] really entled to if you looked at
it under strict terms.Id. (quoting TRO Hr’g Tr., Doc. No. 260, at 387-88).

On January 29, 2015, | sentenced lllarramend&® months’ imprisonment, three years’
supervised release, and a $500 special asses®8rentise | determined that the true loss could
“not be calculated with sufficient [specific]tyclarity, and confidence,” | used the estimated
amount of lllarramendi’s gain—approximately $20 million—in calculating his advisory range
under the Sentencing Guidelines. Sentencing Hr.gBX. J to Fokas Decl., Doc. No. 98-10, at
72-73. | later held a separate hiegon restitutiorafter supplemental briefing from both parties.
On December 11, 2015, | issued a written rulirag tirdered lllarramendi to pay restitution in
the amount of $370,482,716.54, based on the “fair@easbnable” estimate of losses provided
by the receiverllarramendi, 2015 WL 8664174, at *3.

During the pendency of the criminal andGGEctions, a number of civil cases have
proceeded concomitantly as the iigee has attempted to recoveolsin assets for the benefit of
the Receivership Entities and the invest&ee, e.gCarney v. Beracha\o. 3:12-cv-00180
(SRU);Carney v. MarinNo. 3:12-cv-00181 (SRUEarney v. LopeaNo. 3:12-cv-00182
(SRU);Carney v. MontesNo. 3:12-cv-00183 (SRU¥ arney v. Horizon InvsNo. 3:13-cv-

00660 (SRU). In the present case, the receiveksst® recover money stolen by lllarramendi



himself. The Amended Complaint alleges acfuald in violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 52-
552e(a)(1) (Count One); constructive fraud in violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 52-552e(a)(2)
(Count Two) and Conn. Gen. Stat. § 52-552f(ayui@ Three); common law fraudulent transfer
(Count Four); unfair traglpractices in violation of Confaen. Stat. § 42-110a et seq. (Count
Five); breach of fiduciary duty (Count Six); ugftenrichment (Count Seven); conversion (Count
Ten); and the common law wof indebitatus assumpgihoney had and received) (Count
Eleven).SeeDoc. No. 51. The Amended Complaint also seeks the imposition of a constructive
trust (Count Eight) and an eitable accounting (Count Niné)The receiver requests relief in the
form of damages, disgorgement, avwbidance of fraudulent transfers.

On June 20, 2017, the receiver moved for plastimmary judgment on five counts of the
Amended Complaint. Doc. No. 96. On Octolt8, 2017, Illarramendi opposed the motion. Doc.
No. 113. The receiver filed a reply on OctoBér 2017, Doc. No. 116, and lllarramendi filed a

surreply on December 15, 2017. Doc. No. 117 | eletedle on the papers without argument.

[1. Discussion

The receiver has moved for summargigment on Counts One (Connecticut Uniform
Fraudulent Transfer Act (“CUFTA")), Six (Bach of Fiduciary Duty), Seven (Unjust
Enrichment), Ten (Conversion), and Eleven (Money Had and Received) of the Amended

Complaint. The receiver argues that “the samengisgéacts [are] at issue this case” as were

® The Amended Complaint characterizes camdive trust anéiccounting as causes of action,

but they are better conceptualized as reme8es.Macomber v. Travelers Prop. & Cas. Corp.
261 Conn. 620, 623 n.3 (200AW Power Holdings v. Fiteight Waterbury Holdings2015

WL 897785, at *9 (Conn. Super. Ct. Feb. 17, 2015) (“Macombey our Supreme Court stated
that an accounting is a remedy Romero v. Gewirt2011 WL 4953481, at *2—*3 (Conn.

Super. Ct. Sept. 28, 2011) (“[Apnstructive trust is properly pleaded as a remedy as opposed to
a separate cause of action . . . .”) (citMgcombey 261 Conn. at 623 n.3).
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“found . . . when adjudicating lllarramendi gyiih the Criminal Action.” Mem. Supp. Mot.
Summ. J., Doc. No. 99, at 12. Through the docwineollateral estoppethe receiver contends,
lllarramendi should be “prevent[ed] . . . from rglating issues alreadyecided in the Criminal
Action.” Id. Because the facts “necessary to estaltfistcriminal convictions . . . are also
sufficient to impose civil liability on Illarranmeli,” the receiver requests that judgment be
entered in his favor as a matter of |dgk.

lllarramendi’s response is somewhat incoherbut he appears argue that collateral
estoppel does not apply because he hasts&255 petition for writ of habeas corpus
presently pending before this coBeeMem. Opp’n Mot. Summ. J., Doc. No. 113, at 31. He
also argues that he did not have a “full anddaportunity” to litigatein the SEC and criminal
actions because he was “rendered indigetiteabeginning of the glicial process by an
unconstitutional, court-ordered TRQd at 32; “[k]ey decisions . . . [were] ordered by the
District Court after hearings at which theoF8e defendant was nalble to participate,id. at 33;
and one of lllarramendi’s investors—Venefals state-owned oil company, Petroleos de
Venezuela, S.A. (“PDVSA”)—was “allowed togsent a fraudulent and overvalued claim” that
was “approved by the Court at the beheghefReceiver without any evidentiary scrutingd”
In addition, Illarramendi assertisat his prior statements aaffirmations are “unavailing”
because “they were factually erroneous, . sedaon a layman’s misunderstanding of the legal
parameters,” and “recanted..early in the processld. at 34. Finally, evelf collateral estoppel
does apply and lllarramendi is bound by his prasistatements, lllarramendi argues that his

affirmative defenses of extortion and duress “exonerate [him] from any ddilat 44.



A. Does collateragstoppel apply?

“Under the doctrine of offensivenllateral estoppel (more recently called offensive issue
preclusion), a plaintiffnay foreclose a defendant from ngjéiting an issue the defendant has
previously litigated but losigainst another plaintiff SEC v. Monarch Funding Cordl92 F.3d
295, 303-04 (2d Cir. 1999). “The Government beangyher burden of pof in the criminal
than in the civil context,” and so either theitdd States or another party “may rely on the
collateral estoppel effect af criminal conviction in a subsequent civil casgelb v. Royal
Globe Ins. Cq.798 F.2d 38, 43 (2d Cir. 1986) (Newman, J.). “[F]ederal law governs the
collateral estoppel effectf a federal criminal convictiom a subsequent diversity actiond’ In
the present case, if collaterat@spel applies, then lllarramentis barred from relitigating any
issue determined adversely to him in the criminal proceedBeg”id.

Because the doctrine oflateral estoppel ‘levates uniformity and repose above
correctness,id. at 44, “courts have imposed a numbeprrequisites to assure that the
precluded issue, whether or notreetly resolved, was at least carefully considered in the first
proceeding.’"Monarch Funding Corp.192 F.3d at 304. In order for catéral estoppel to apply:

(1) the issues in both proceads must be identical,

(2) the issue in the prior proceeding must have been actually litigated and
actually decided,

(3) there must have been a full and fapportunity for litigation in the
prior proceeding, and

(4) the issue previously litigated mustve been necessary to support a
valid and final judgment on the merits.

Gelh 798 F.2d at 44. “The party asserting collatestoppel’—here, theeceiver—"bears the
burden of demonstrating that itestitled to th[at] relief.'Bear, Stearns & Co. v. 1109580

Ontario, 409 F.3d 87, 93 (2d Cir. 2005).



Judge Arterton recently gave estoppetetfin the SEC action to lllarramendi’s
admissions in the criminal actidrsee lllarramendi260 F. Supp. 3d at 176. As explained

below, | agree with Judge Artert's reasoning and also hold thallateral estoppel applies.

1. Are the issues in both proceedings “identical™?

The same underlying conduct—Illarramendi’s operation of the Ponzi scheme—gave rise
to the criminal action, the SEC action, and thespnt case. Although the causes of action differ,
“[t]he allegations . . . described the [receiver]'s complaint in thaction parallel the events and
charged determined . . . in [lllarramendi’s] guilty pleaB&e Mishkin v. Agelof299 F. Supp. 2d
249, 253 (S.D.N.Y. 2004). For example, the reees claim for breach of fiduciary duty
requires him to show that “a fiduciary relationship exist&khdahl v. Pelusd.73 Conn. App.

66, 100 (2017). That issue effectively is decibgdllarramendi’s admission in the criminal
action that he “acted as an investment adviseettain hedge funds,” Plea Agreement, Doc. No.
98-5, at 13, because investment advisers aradayes fiduciaries under both Connecticut and
federal law.See SEC v. Capital Gains Research Buy&as U.S. 180, 194 (1963) (“Congress
recognized the investment advisebt. . . a fiduciary . . . .”Jacurci v. Sax313 Conn. 786,

804 (2014) (“[Clourts have concluded that [a] tielaship . . . is fiduciary in nature when a
heightened risk of abuse of ttus confidence exists, such as when the [defendant] acts as an
investment advisor . . . .".ehn v. Dailey2002 WL 449842, at *2—*3 (Conn. Super. Ct. Feb.

27, 2002) (“defendant . . . owed a duty to the pifisnas a fiduciary” because he “f[ell] within

" Judge Arterton also relied on Htamendi’s prior testimony before her, particularly at the May
25, 2011 hearing on the SEC’s motion temporary restraining ordesee SEC v. Illarramendi
260 F. Supp. 3d 166, 179 (D. Conn. 2017). Althoughrdlmendi’s prior statements are not
“adjudications” and are nthemselves entitled to estoppelesff, | may take judicial notice of
them as adverse party admissions amad in official court record§ee supraote 5.
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the definition of an investment adviser” und@onn. Gen. Stat. § 36b-3(10)). Thus, at least some

of the issues are “identicasuch that estoppel of thomsues would be appropriate.

2. Were the issues “actually litigated andtaally decided” in the prior proceeding?

“For a finding to merit estoppel effect it must. have been actually litigated and actually
decided in the initial actionMonarch Funding Corp.192 F.3d at 309. “[T]he actual litigation
and actual decision prerequisitegphensure that a finding was caurity considered in the first
action, and that it therefore may seas a fair basis for estoppdld’ Thus, when an issue
“received little attentin from either the parties or theurt” in the prior action, “applying
collateral estoppel . . . would be impropdd”

Here, it can hardly be said that the issulederlying the receiver’s @ims received “little
attention” in the criminal caséd. To the contrary, the issuast only were the subject of a
binding stipulation to lllarrant&i’s plea agreement—which mayits own force render those
issues “actually litigated” fopurposes of colleral estoppekee Cent. Hudson Gas & Elec.
Corp. v. Empresa Naviera Santa, $%6 F.3d 359, 369 & n.4 (2d Cir. 1995)—but also many of
them (e.g., the amount of loss) were hotly conteatdllarramendi’s sgencing and restitution
hearingsSee United States v. U.S. Currency in Amount of $119,984.00, More p804$53d
165, 179 (2d Cir. 2002) (“That the issues . . . wargsed by the [presestice report], addressed
by one party, and made the subject of inquirghgyDistrict Court stsngly suggests that those
issues were ‘actually litigated’ for purposescoflateral estoppel . . . .”). The multiple written
decisions in lllarramendi’s criminal case alsowtthat the issues habeen “actually” (indeed,
exhaustively) “litigated.’See lllarramendi2015 WL 8664174, at *3tlarramendi, 677 F.

App’x 30; United States v. lllarramendb42 F. App’x 64 (2d Cir. 2016) (summary order).
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Therefore, | conclude that tisues that were “actually dded” in the previous actions—as

reflected by the hearing tramgats and written opinions—weidso “actually litigated.”

3. Was there a “full and fair opportunity fditigation” in the prior proceeding?

lllarramendi concentrates his opposition ontthied prerequisite focollateral estoppel,
asserting that he lacked a “full and fair opportyifor litigation” in the criminal action. As he
also has claimed in his habeas petition, lllarnadn@rgues that he was deprived of a “full and
fair opportunity” to litigate beause the asset freeze imposed by Judge Arterton “forced [him]
into representation by counsel that [was] ndtisfchoice” and was not “competent to deal with
essential elements of the case.” Memp® Mot. Summ. J., Doc. No. 113, at 32.

Even assuming that lllarramendi’s Sixdmendment claim has merit, his “sworn
admissions” embodied in the plea agreement argitiated merely due to dissatisfaction with
his counselSee lllarramendi260 F. Supp. 3d at 178. lllarramemldies not argue that he was
deprived of any specific “opportiiy to vigorously put forth a dense in the criminal action,”
see In re Adelphia Commc’ns Cqrg006 WL 2463355, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 23, 2006), which
“took place in accord with the procedural armhstitutional safeguards accorded to criminal
defendants in United St District Courts.SEC v. Namer2004 WL 2199471, at *5 (S.D.N.Y.
Sept. 30, 2004pff'd, 183 F. App’x 120 (2d Cir. 2006)ysmary order). To the contrary,
lllarramendi was afforded his right to counigloughout the criminal proceedings. Even when
he chose to represent himself, as he dideatdhtitution hearing, stand-by counsel was present.
lllarramendi (or his attorney) cross-examinee ¢fovernment’s witnesses, filed myriad briefs,
and unsuccessfully appealed both his sentandehe restitution order. Notwithstanding
lllarramendi’s frustration witlinis conviction, | conclude that Head “a full and fair opportunity .

.. to litigate the issues in the criminal proceedin§e&Mishkin 299 F. Supp. 2d at 253.
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4. Were the determinations with respect to the issues “necessary to support a valid and
final judgment on the merits™?

With respect to the final requirement—that “iksue previously litigated must have been
necessary to support a valid and final judgment on the megigdly 798 F.2d at 44—
lllarramendi suggests that his criminal conwatis not “final” because he has filed a habeas
petition and is seeking en banc review fritvea Second Circuit. As Judge Arterton noted,
however, “the pendency of a criminal appeal galiedoes not deprive a criminal judgment of
its preclusive effect.lllarramendi, 260 F. Supp. 3d at 178¢e United Statas Int’'| Bhd. of
Teamsters905 F.2d 610, 621 (2d Cir. 1990). Moreovéne pendency of [ ] lllarramendi’s
habeas petition and en banc action doumakermine the preclusivaffect of his sworn
admissions” in the plea agreement and attached stipuldiqemphasis omitted). Because
lllarramendi’s conviction and my restitution order were “sufficiently firm to be accorded
conclusive effect,” | conclude that they werérfal’ in the sense gbrecluding further litigation
of the same issue” for purposes of collateral estofiped Aggrenox Antitrust Litig2017 WL
5885664, at *8 (D. Conn. Nov. 29, 2017) (quotingnmus Co. v. Commonw. Oil Ref. (297
F.2d 80, 89 (2d Cir. 1961); Restatemecond) of Judgments § 13).

The earlier findings also were “necessaxyth[e] decisions” in the criminal casgee id.
For example, the stipulation of offense conduas necessary to satisfy the elements of the
crimes with which lllarramendi was chargdide calculation of lllarramendi’s gain was
necessary to determine his Sentencing Guidelarege; and the calculatiaf the investors’ loss
was necessary to support the restitution orlecordingly, | concludehat the receiver has

carried his burden to show that all oételements of collateral estoppel are met.
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5. Would application of collated otherwise be “unfair’?

The Second Circuit has emphasized that the“joenquisites to prdasion” set forth in
Gelbare “designed to ensure fairnedgénarch Funding Corp.192 F.3d at 309. Beyond the
factors considered bgelb though, other “circumstances [may] so undermine confidence in the
validity of an original determination as tader application of # doctrine impermissibly
‘unfair.” Id. at 304. For example, the second actimay “afford[] ‘procedural opportunities
unavailable in the first action thatudd readily cause a different resultld. (quotingParklane
Hosiery Co. v. Shoret39 U.S. 322, 330-31 (1979)). Or a pangy have had "“little incentive to
litigate the relevant issue vigordysn the original action, partidarly if the second action [was]
not foreseeable fd. Ultimately, the party seeking to agpiollateral estoppel bears the burden to
affirmatively “show that preclusion [is] fairld. at 306.

In particular, the Secort@dircuit has held that “pregtling religitation on the basis of
[sentencing] findings should be presesiimproper,” for several reasomd. First, “a plenary
civil trial affords a defenddrprocedural opportunities”—sudas “opportunities to take
discovery”—*“that are unavailable at sentemgthat could command a different reséitd. at
305. Second, a defendant often has a lower ineetd “challenge sensitive issues during
sentencing,” either out of a hope of leniency cg tlua belief in the fuity of fighting the trial
judge’s substantial discretion in sentencing mattees. id.Third, reliarce on sentencing
findings often will be inefficient. The partiesware of sentencing’s “procedural looseness,” may
be incentivized to “introduce gratous material” at sentencing ander to preclud litigation of

certain issues in a subsequent civil dditat 305-06. And the judge the subsequent action,

8 Evidence admitted at a civil trial also is sedijto evidentiary challenge, whereas a sentencing
judge is “largely unlimited” with respect tthe kind of information [he] may considelSEC v.
Monarch Funding Corp.192 F.3d 295, 305 (2d Cir. 1999).
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recognizing the “concerns of unfairness” thase from giving sentencing findings estoppel
effect, will need to take “a more cautious approach in the civil case . . . than would be otherwise
necessary.ld. at 306. Thus, although the Second Cirdeitlined to “foreabse application of
the doctrine in all sentencing eas’ it cautioned thatollateral estoppel “should be applied only
in those circumstances where it isally fair and efficient to do sold.

| conclude that such circumstances aregireBere. As the receivargues, lllarramendi
already had ample opportunity ttidiate the relevant issues irstariminal case. His sentencing
hearing lasted four hours, Dddo. 163, and his restitution heagi lasted nearly four-and-a-half.
Doc. No. 180. lllarramendi or siattorney submitted briefs, filed affidavits, and cross-examined
witnesses. There is no suggestibat | considered any “gratuitonsaterial” at either hearing
that would not be admissible in a civil ca€¢. Monarch Funding Corpl192 F.3d at 306. Nor
does lllarramendi’s “incentive to litigate [theéntencing finding[s]” appear to have been “less
intense,”see id.at 305, in view of how vigorously he aht attorney disputethe government’s
calculations of lllarramendi’s gaind his investors’ loss. In stiok cannot se@ow applying the
sentencing and restitution findingsthis case would binfair” to lllarramendi.Cf. id.

Conversely, the efficiency gains from applyicollateral esfapel are greater than usual.
As noted, lllarramendi’s sentencing and restituti@arings already consumed more than an
entire business day of court time. lllarramealdb appealed his sentence and my restitution
order to the Second Circuit, which affirmed b&ee677 F. App’x 30; 642 F. App’x 64.
Considering that lllarramendi’s objectionsth® receiver’'s motion fosummary judgment are
virtually identical to those raised against kentence and the restitution order, | deem it

extraordinarily inefficient to allow himrether chance to relitigate those issues.
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Therefore, because application of collater&bgsel is “clearly fair and efficient” here, |
hold that Illarramendi is collaterally tepped from denying his admissions that:

(a) The statements set forth in the atgtion of offense conduct are true
and accurate. Waiver & Plea Hr'g.TEx. G to Fokas Decl., Doc. No.
98-7, at 38.

(b) He acted as an investment advisehedge funds. Plea Agreement,
Doc. No. 98-5, at 13.

(c) He made materially false and neiatling representations to investors
in the hedge funds to conceaatline had lost money on certain
investmentsld.

(d) He engaged in a scheme to defrauaestors rather than disclosing the
loss.Id.

(e) He used the mails or wire trangsion to communicate in interstate or
foreign commerce fraudulent documents including bogus debt
instruments and a fictitioussset verification letterd.

( He made materially false and misleading statements to investors,
creditors, and the SEC about ferformance of the funds under his
advisementld.

(g) He used money from new investorspy out returns promised to old
investorslid.

(h) He created fraudulent docunts to mislead investorkl.

() He made false representationsneestors in order to obtain new
investmentsld.

() He commingled the monies innaus funds under his advisemelat.
(k) He engaged in transactions that weot in the best interests of the
funds and agreed to pay kickbackpersons connected to those
transactionsld.
See also lllarramend60 F. Supp. 3d at 179. Furthermdlieyramendi is estopped from
contesting issues resolved against him duriegstmtencing and restitution proceedings. Thus, |

hold that the amount of the investoiesses approximates $370,482,717, and the amount of

lllarramendi’s gain approximates $25,844,834e lllarramendi2015 WL 8664174, at *3—*4.
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B. Do the facts determined in tikeminal action establish lllarramendi’s liability as a matter
of law?

“Summary judgment is appropteaunder the doctrine of colixal estoppel . . . when all
the material issues of fact mpending action have been actually and necessarily resolved in a
prior proceeding,Mishkin 299 F. Supp. 2d at 252, such tthet moving party is “entitled to
judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56f®re, the materiabttual issues were all
addressed by the prior litigation, and llEmendi offers nothing in opposition to summary
judgment but “conclusory, spectilaee and self-serving denials of his admissions . . . or
unparticularized referencés threats and extortionSee lllarramendi260 F. Supp. 3d at 170—-
71. For example, lllarramendi claims that heedainder duress because he was subject to threats
and “extortion by PDVSA.” Mem. Opp’n Mot. 8&um. J., Doc. No. 113, at 45. But Illarramendi
“does not tell the Court who threatened himwhte was threatened, when or where it occurred,
nor does he provide any evidence beyond hiswend that such threat ever occurred.”
lllarramendi, 260 F. Supp. 3d at 180. Thus, lllaremdi’s “unsupported assertions” do not
suffice to defeat the receiver’'s motion for summary judgmednat 175.

lllarramendi also attempts to create genusseies of material fadty asserting new facts
in his opposition brief. Those assertions, he edes, “conflict with [his] Guilty Plea in the
Criminal Matter[,] including its Stipulation ddffense Conduct.” MenOpp’n Mot. Summ. J.,
Doc. No. 113, at 4. Although Illarramendi trieseixplain away the conflidby “certify[ing] . . .
under penalty of perjury, that any discrepi@s . . . are due to [his] ignorance or
misunderstanding of pertinent facstatues and/or jurisprudenat the time [he] made any
stipulations or statementsd., he cannot “show a triable issakfact merely by submitting an
affidavit that disputes his own prior sworn testimoriyule v. Brine, In¢.85 F.3d 1002, 1011

(2d Cir. 1996). In the absenceady “plausible explanation faliscrepancies in [lllarramendi]’s
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testimony,® | conclude that lllarramendi’s revised faat statements do not suffice to preclude
summary judgmenSee Langman Fabricd60 F.3d 106, 112 (2d Cir. 1998).

Because the material facts are establidghedperation of collateral estoppel, all that
remains is to determine whether the receiventstled to judgment as a matter of law. | shall

examine in turn each count on whitie receiver seeks summary judgment.

1. Counts One and Ten

In Counts One and Ten, the receiver seekedover for actual fraudulent transfer under
CUFTA and for conversion, respectively. The facts established by application of collateral
estoppel could support either claim, but the canfestion are inconsistent. “[I]n order to set
aside a fraudulent conveyance, one mustdreditor of the transferor,Eberhard 530 F.3d at
129 (emphasis added), not an owner. Conver§elpnversion is an unauthorized assumption
and exercise of the right ofvnershipover property belonging to armnar, to the exclusion of the
owner’s rights,”"Mystic Color Lab. v. Auctions Worldwid284 Conn. 408, 418 (2007) (emphasis
added), and “a claim for convensi may [not] be brought when thelationship . . . is one of
debtor and creditor.Id. at 419 (2007). Because the “two remedies differ on . . . an essential
element”—namely, whether the plaintiff need be a creditor or an owner—the remedies are

“inconsistent, and the election poirsue one waives the othegée In re Oswego Barge Carp.

° This is not a case where the stipulation cow@i‘legal conclusion[ghat [lllarramendi] was

not fully qualified to render.Langman Fabrics v. Graff Californiaweat60 F.3d 106, 112 (2d
Cir. 1998). To the contrary, the stipulation sthfacts—e.g., whether documents were “bogus,”
“phony,” or “fictitious,” and whethehe “agreed to pay kickbackséePlea Agreement, Doc.

No. 98-5, at 13—that would haveen unaffected by lllarramendi’'s supposed ignorance of the
law. At any rate, lllarramendi’s purported “rtaken legal understanding about what was owed
to investors” is hardly a plause explanation for the discrepaes in his testimony, because it is
extremely “unlikely . . . that a manageraohedge fund does not understand the rights of his
investors to money #y have invested3ee lllarramendi260 F. Supp. 3d at 171 n.2.
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664 F.2d 327, 343—-34 (2d Cir. 1981) (Newman W3ajcott v. Fallon118 Conn. 220, 171 A.

658, 659 (1934). Therefore, the receigannot recover on both counts.

a. Count One: CUFTA

CUFTA provides that “a credit . . . may obtain . . . [@pidance of [a] transfer or
obligation to the extent necessary to satikfycreditor’s claim,” Conn. Gen. Stat. § 52-552h(a),
when the transfer was “fraudulent” as defined by the stabated. at 8§ 52-552e(a) (“A transfer
made . . . by a debtor is fraudules to a creditor, ihe creditor’s claim arose before the transfer
was made . . . and if the debtor made the transfejw]ith actual intat to hinder, delay or
defraud any creditor of the debf)r As the language of the st indicates, “in order to set
aside a fraudulent conveyance, one must be a creditor of the trandienhard 530 F.3d at
129. The transferor himself (or a receiver who “stamlyg in the shoes of . . . [the] transferor”)
“may not bring an action to setids his own fraudulent conveyancéd’ at 133.

As | previously have observed, a receikias standing to brinclaims under CUFTA
when “he brings them on behalf of the recestp entities, which . . . became creditors of
lllarramendi . . . at the commemoent of his fraudulent schemeCarney v. Horion Invs.107 F.
Supp. 3d 216, 229 (D. Conn. 2015). That reasoning follows from the Second Circuit’'s decision
in Eberhard v. MarcuSee Horion Invs.107 F. Supp. 3d at 228 (discusskigerhard 530 F.3d
at 132—-34). Irkberhard the Second Circuit adopted tleasoning of the Seventh Circuit’s
decision inScholes v. LehmanB6 F.3d 750 (7th Cir. 1995), andidh¢hat “when transfers are
made by corporations that are completely aulgd by the wrongdoer, ‘the transfers were, in
essence, coercedHorion Invs, 107 F. Supp. 3d at 229 (quotiegerhard 530 F.3d at 132).

“The corporation then becomes the creditathi; coerced transaction and a receiver for the
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coerced corporation has standtogclaw back the transfers®1d. Here, because lllarramendi
“made the [Receivership Entities] divert [mon&yjunauthorized purposes,” the entities are
“entitled to the return of th[ose] moneys,” ahe receiver may assert a CUFTA claim against
lllarramendi on their behalEberhard 530 F.3d at 132 (quotirgcholes56 F.3d at 754).

In order to recover under CUFTA, “the Receiweust ultimately prove (1) that a transfer
of assets took place, (2) that the claim arog$erbehat transfer took place, and (3) that the
transferor intended to hinder, delay ofrdad the creditor by making the transfdddrion Invs,
107 F. Supp. 3d at 231. The first two elemengsestablished by the Amended Declaration of
Brian Ong and its accompanying exhibgeeDocs. Nos. 106 & 107, the veracity of which
lllarramendi does not dispute. The third elemsrsatisfied by the “Ponzi presumption,” which
holds that “[a]ctual intent to defraud is presunasda matter of law when the debtor is engaged
in a Ponzi scheme because ‘transfers madiegeicourse of a Ponzi scheme could have been

made for no purpose other than toder, delay or defraud creditordCarney v. Lope2933 F.

10 The reason for that conclusiaexplained more thoroughly Bcholes/. Lehmann56 F.3d
750 (7th Cir. 1995): “The corporations, [thefendant] Douglas’sobotic tools, were
nevertheless in the eyes of the law separaté éegiies with rights anduties. . . . [Douglas’s]
transfers removed assets frtime corporations for an unautimed purpose and by doing so
injured the corporations. . . . Though injured byuDlas, the corporationgould not be heard to
complain as long as they were controlled by muot,only because he would not permit them to
complain but also because of their deeprtheer, complicity in Douglas’s fraud. . . The
appointment of the receiver removed the wrongdimen the scene. The corporations were no
more Douglas’s evil zombies. Freed from hislkfhey became entitled to the return of the
moneys—for the benefit not @&fouglas but of innocent investors—that Douglas had made the
corporations divert to unauthorized purposés.’at 754.

1 llarramendi denies, as he has previguiat he was engaged in a Ponzi scheSee, e.g.
Mem. Opp’n Mot. Summ. J., Doc. No. 113, at Piave held several times that Illarramendi
“did, in fact, operate a Ponzi scheme,” Senteg¢ir'g Tr., Ex. J to Fokas Decl., Doc. No. 96-
10, at 93see also Carney v. Lope¥33 F. Supp. 2d 365, 380 (D. Conn. 2013) (observing that
lllarramendi “has admitted to conduct described by many courts as amounting to a Ponzi
scheme”), and | do so again here.
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Supp. 2d 365, 379 (D. Conn. 2013) (quotBepar, Stearns Sec. Corp. v. Gredd (In re Manhattan
Inv. Fund)397 B.R. 1, 8 (S.D.N.Y. 2007)3ee also idat 381 (“[E]ntities used to further Ponzi
schemes are presumptively insolvent.”). Becdlisgeceiver has “show[tihat the transfers at
issue were related to a Ponzi scheme,” the Roesumption establishdisat Illarramendi acted
with fraudulent intentld. at 381. Therefore, under the unconteséads, the receiver is entitled

to judgment as a matter of law on Count One of the Amended Complaint.

b. Count Ten: Conversion

As described above, “[c]onversion is an utherized assumption and exercise of the
right of ownership over properbelonging to another, to theawsion of the owner’s rights.”
Mystic Color Lah 284 Conn. at 418. The tort of convershas four essential elements:

(a) The plaintiff owned the property;

(b) The defendant deprived the plaintff that property for an indefinite
period of time;

(c) The defendant’s conduct was unauthorized; and
(d) The defendant’s conduct harmed the plaintiff.

See News Am. Mktg. In-Store v. Marg86 Conn. App. 527, 545 (2004). In the context of
conversion, the notion of “ownership” has &Xible meaning,” and encompasses a “mere
possessory right” as well as legal till@bel Sys. Corp. v. Aghamohamma&¥#0 Conn. 291, 329
(2004). Thus, “a possessory intgrsufficiently establishesastding to pursue a conversion
action.”Payne v. TK Auto Wholesale@8 Conn. App. 533, 541 (2006).

To the extent that the Receivershigiti®s owned the money wrongly transferred by

lllarramendi, the receiver has establisheddlleenents of conversion as a matter of 1&w.

12 Under Connecticut law, “money, not just téslg goods, may be the subject of conversion,”
but the plaintiff “must show ownership or the rigb possess specific, identifiable money, rather
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Through his fraud, Illarramendi deprived thecBwership Entities ofheir money without
authorization, causing thesubstantial losseSee lllarramendi2015 WL 8664174, at *3
(holding that lllarramendi’$raud caused $370,482,716 in losseg)L.opez933 F. Supp. 2d at
385 (“lllarramendi could not authorize . . . traarsfenmeshed in his fraudulent scheme.”).

Hence, the receiver also is entitledudgment as a matter of law on Count Ten.

c. Election of remedies

The problem is that the elements ofuidalent transfer and conversion are “clearly
inconsistent” with one anotheseeMotorola Credit Corp. v. Uzarb61 F.3d 123, 130 (2d Cir.
2009), and “[t]he law simply does not . . . pérenparty to exercise two alternative or
inconsistent . . . remedied.ticente v. IBM Corp.310 F.3d 243, 258-59 (2d Cir. 2002). As the
Supreme Court has stated, “the dimetrof election of remedies . refers to situations where an
individual pursues remedies that &gally or factually inconsistentAlexander v. Gardner-
Denver Co,.415 U.S. 36, 50 (1974). In such circuargtes, prevailing upon one inconsistent
cause of action “deprives [the plaintiff] of any right to resort to the otkguitable Tr. Co. of
N.Y. v. Conn. Brass & Mfg. Cor290 F. 712, 725-26 (2d Cir. 1923E(juitable T).

Here, the elements of the receiver'siElA claim and of his conversion claim are
“irreconcilable.”See Equitable Tr. Co. of N.¥..Conn. Brass & Mfg. Corpl0 F.2d 913, 915
(2d Cir. 1926) (Equitable IT'). The CUFTA claimrequires the Receivership Entities to be
“creditors,” that is, those 6twhom a debt is owedBlack’s Law Dictionary(10th ed. 2014);f.

Conn. Gen. Stat. 8 52-552b(4) (defining “creditas “a person who has a claim”). The

than the right to the payent of money generallyMystic Color Lab. v. Auctions Worldwide

284 Conn. 408, 421 (2007). That requirement seerbe toet because tiiReceivership Entities
appear actually to have had legal title to theestments; Illarramendi was not “merely obligated
to pay the money.See Deming v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. 79 Conn. 745, 772—-73 (2006).
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conversion claim, conversely, reqesrthe Receivership Entitieslie “owners,” that is, those
“who ha[ve] the right to possess, use, aodvwey something,” and “in whom one or more
interests are vestedBlack’s Law Dictionary(10th ed. 2014). The two claims are brought with
respect to the same transfers, and obviotisé/Receivership Entitsecannot simultaneously
own and be owed the same property. Thus, tleecuses of action are “plainly inconsistent”
with respect to “an essential elemersg’e In re Oswego Barge Corp64 F.2d at 343, and “the
election to pursue one waives the oth&Valcott 171 A. at 659.

A useful illustration of the principlis contained in the 1923 casemofuitable Trust Co.
of New York v. Connecticut Brass & Manufacturing Cdripere, the United States (as
intervenor) alleged that it hadmwacted with the defendant$apply munitions for use in World
War I. In order to manufacture the munitiotiee United States provided the defendant with
more than two million pounds of copper, titlewthich was to remain with the United States. The
defendant only used about one-third of tbppeer, failed to return the remainder, and soon
became insolvent. The United States filed gripayment of a debt in the amount of the
copper’s fair market value, asseg that its claim was entitled fwiority under a federal statute.
After it lost in the district court, the United States changed ésrthto assert a “lien . . . upon
the proceeds realized from theomgful conversion of the propertyEquitable | 290 F. at 724.

The Second Circuit held that the conversitaim was barred by th@octrine of election
of remedies. By “seeking relief as a creditdine Court reasoned,fé United States . . .
proceeded upon the theory that the title ®dbpper had been transferred from it to the
defendant corporationld. at 725. “Having proceeded upon that theory in the court below, and
failed, it is now unable . . . to shift its position alosely and argue that the title continued to be

throughout the whole time in the [United Statesjjth that the government may “now claim[ ] a
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lien upon the assets” from the conversiah Even though the United States either “could
proceed upon the theory of ownership of the coppéself and sue for the recovery of it,” or
“waiving ownership of the copper, . might sue as a creditorrecover the debt,” it could not
do both.Id. “The two methods of redress are basedhoonsistent theories,” for “[a]ll actions
which proceed upon the theory that title to theperty is in the claimant are substantially
inconsistent with those which proceed upon the theory that title is in the defendaBetause
the government had “actually made [a choice] leetwinconsistent theories and remedies,” the
Court held, it would “not bell@wed to invoke the aid of theoart upon contradictory principles
of redress upon one and the same line of alcts'The assertion of the one remedy preclude[d]
a resort to the other which [was] inconsistent with the claim first médleat 726.

To be sure, the doctrine of election of renesdias less applicability now than it did in
1923, because the Federal Rules of Civil Proeefemacted in 1938) now permit plaintiffs to
“plead alternative and even inconsistent theoriesgven if they only can recover under one of
th[o]se theories.Obourn v. Am. Well Corp115 F. Supp. 3d 301, 311 (D. Conn. 2015) (brackets
omitted) (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(dgee St. John’s Univ. v. Boltor57 F. Supp. 2d 144, 183
(E.D.N.Y. 2010) (“Rule 8(d) antierates the uncertainty inherantall litigation at the pleading
stage by permitting plaintiffs to allege claims in the alternative, even if the legal theories
underlying those claims are techriganconsistent or contradioty.”). But it “does not follow”
from the plaintiff's “right to plead alternative cses of action based on the same facts . . . that a
plaintiff may recover tice for the same wrongCoppola Constr. Co. v. Hoffman Enters. Ltd.
P’ship, 134 Conn. App. 203, 210 n.4 (201aff'd, 309 Conn. 342 (2013}f. Treglia v. Zanesky
67 Conn. App. 447, 456 (2001) (“The plaintiff . . .stakes a party’s right to plead alternate

theories of liability with a ght to seek inconsistent remeslithat could result in double

24



recovery.”). Even though plaintiff undoubtedly maygieadalternative, or even inconsistent,
claims,” courts continue to hottlat plaintiffs eventually “need to make an ‘election™ to avoid
doubly “recovefing] on” such claimsin re Gen. Motorsdnition Switch Litig. 257 F. Supp. 3d
372, 405-06 (S.D.N.Y. 20173ee Treglia67 Conn. App. at 456 (affirming trial court’s decision
requiring plaintiff to make an election taf all evidence had been presented”).

Here, the receiver’s claims for conversigrddor violation of CUFTA are contradictory
for the reasons discussediquitable | “All actions which proceed upon the theory that title to
the property is in the almant are substantially inconsistevith those which proceed upon the
theory that title is in the defendanEquitable | 290 F. at 725. A convaos claim “proceed[s]
upon the theory that title to the property ighe claimant’—that isthat the Receivership
Entities own the monel? See id.cf. Mystic Color Lab284 Conn. at 418 (“Conversion is an
unauthorized assumption and exercise of the rightvofershipover property belonging to
another, to the exclusion of tbener’srights.”) (emphasis addedd CUFTA claim “proceed|s]
upon the theory that title is in the defendanthat is, that lllarramendi owns the money—and
that the plaintiff is a “creditor [entitled] to recover the deBEge Equitable, 290 F. at 725¢f.
Eberhard 530 F.3d at 129 (“[I]n order to set as@éaudulent conveyance, one must be a
creditor of the transferor . . . .”) (emphasidded). Because the Reeeiship Entities cannot

simultaneously own and be owed the same mathe claims “are based on inconsistent

13“The word owner is one of flexible meiag” under Connecticut law, and “a possessory
interest sufficiently establishesastding to pursue a conversion actioRdyne v. TK Auto
Wholesalers98 Conn. App. 533, 541 (2006). Therefore, a secured creditor may bring a
conversion action, because “a seduceeditor . . . [has] theght to take possession of the
secured property upon the debtor’s defa8e€ United States v. Whiting Pqal2 U.S. 198,
206 n.14 (1983) (citing U.C.C. 8§ 9-508J; William Goldberg & Co. v. Cohe@19 Ga. App.
628 (1995) (“A secured creditor $ra right of action for conversi if property subject to its
security interest is disposed without the creditor’s authomion.”). There is no suggestion
here, however, that the Receivership Entittesy be considered secured creditors.
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theories.”"Equitable | 290 F. at 725. By “elect[ing] to resda one of th[o]se remedies,” the
receiver “thereby deprives himselfay right to resort to the otheid.

As explained above, the receiver has vialdéms both for violation of CUFTA and for
conversion. Therefore, | shall permit the receieemake an election between those claims.
Within ten days of the filing of this order, the receiver shall file a notice on the docket
announcing which claim he will pursue. The recesfall support his choice with an affidavit or
other evidence sufficient to show who owns tineds at issue. lllarramendi may respond to that
submission within two weeks. If the evidencegerly supports the releer’'s chosen theory,

then | will direct the Clerk to enter judgment the receiver on the appragie cause of action.

2. Count Six: Breach of fiduciary duty

In order to prove a claim for breach of fidugiauty, “the plaintiff . . . ha[s] the burden
of establishing four essential elemen®€éndahl 173 Conn. App. at 100. He must show that:

(1) a fiduciary relationship ested that gave rise @ duty of loyalty, i.e.,
an obligation to act in good faiind in the besnhterests of the
plaintiff;

(2) the defendant advanced his or henanterests to the detriment of the
plaintiff;

(3) the plaintiff sustaied damages; and

(4) the damages were proximately caused by the fiduciary’s breach of his
or her fiduciary duty.

See id:"Once a fiduciary relationspiis found to exist, the burden of proving fair dealing

properly shifts to the fiduciary,” who musatisfy that burdehy “clear and convincing

evidence."Oakhill Assocs. v. D’Amaji@28 Conn. 723, 726 (1994).
Connecticutourts“broadly define[] a fiduciary relationspi’ as one “characterized by a

unique degree of trust and corditte between the parties, onevbiom has superior knowledge,
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skill or expertise and is under a duty to represent the interests of the Ginbahe v. Culhane
969 F. Supp. 2d 210, 225 (D. Conn. 2013) (quailngham v. Dunhan04 Conn. 303, 322
(1987)). A fiduciary “may be under a specific dtwyact for the benefit of another” by operation
of law, or he may simply be “in a dommgposition, thereby creating a relationship of
dependency.See Hi-Ho Tower v. Com-Tronics, In255 Conn. 20, 38 (2000). By contrast, a
fiduciary relationship does nekist when parties “deal[] at arms length, thereby lacking a
relationship or dominance and dependence,” or etiezy are “not engaged in a relationship of
special trust and confidenced. at 39.

In the present case, lllarramendi has concélache “acted as an investment adviser” to
the Receivership Entities. Plea Agreement, Ddam. 98-5, at 13. As noted, Connecticut courts
have concluded that a defendant who “acts as astimeat advisor” is part of a “relationship . .
. [that] is fiduciary in nature.lacurci, 313 Conn. at 804. Hence, “a fiduciary relationship
existed” between lllarramendi and the Receivgrétities, and lllarramendi was obligated to
“act in good faith” and “in the [funds’] best interestS&e RendahlL73 Conn. App. at 100.

Because the receiver has simaotlve existence of a fiduciary relationship, “the burden of
proving fair dealing . . shifts” to lllarramendiD’Amatag 228 Conn. at 726. He has not carried
that burden. To the contrary, lllarramendi admditteder oath that he “made materially false and
misleading representations and omissions tositors,” Plea Agreement, Doc. No. 98-5, at 13,
“engaged in transactions that were imothe best interiss of the Fundsjd., and “received more
in management fees than he was entitlédthiramendi, 260 F. Supp. 3d at 173 (citing TRO
Hr'g Tr., Doc. No. 260, at 385). Illlarramendi’s “B€llealing” and failurdo “act in the best
interest of the [funds] . . . clearly constitute[] a breach of fiduciary d@yector v. Konoveb7

Conn. App. 121, 132 (2000f. Charter Oak Lending Grp. v. Augu$R7 Conn. App. 428, 442
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(2011) (“Self-dealing is defined gp]articipation in a tansaction that benefitmeself instead of
another who is owed a fiduciary duty.”) (dqureg Black’s Law Dictionary (9th ed. 2009)).

As a proximate result of lllarramendfsaud, the funds sustained approximately
$370,482,787 in damage3ee lllarramendi2015 WL 8664174, at *3. That injury would not
“have occurred but for [lllarramendi]’'s conducafid lllarramendi’s “conduct [was] a substantial
factor in bringing about the [funds’] injuriesBozelko v. Papastavrp823 Conn. 275, 283
(2016). Although lllarramendi reiterates his arguntéat “there is no Iss in the Receivership
Companies” because the claim by PDVSA “is iidvand fraudulent, or at least overvaluesge
Mem. Opp’n Mot. Summ. J., Doc. No. 113, at 3643%haustively entertained that theory at
the sentencing and restitution hearirfggseSentencing Hr’'g Tr., Doc. No. 96-10, at 11-88¢
generallyRestitution Hr'g Tr., Doc. No. 18United States v. Illarramengd8:11-cr-00041
(SRU). | determined that “even if | wet@ apply the highestahdard in law”—beyond a
reasonable doubt—*the [amount of loss] . . . in tase is not zero,” but rather “almost certainly
[was] in excess of 200 million dafs.” Sentencing Hr'g Tr., Do No. 96-10, at 67, 72. Thus, |
“completely reject[ed]1lllarramendi’s positionld. at 67. | see no reason to permit lllarramendi
to reargue this point a third time, after legldy heard lengthy argument from him and his
counsel and allowed him to extensivelpss-examine the receiver’'s expert.

The facts established by applion of collateral estoppel ad®nstrate as a matter of law
that lllarramendi breached hislficiary duties to the Receiversliiptities. Therefore, | grant the

receiver’s motion for summary judgment with respto Count Six of the Amended Complaint.

3. Count Seven: Unjust enrichment

“Unjust enrichment is a very broad and flexiklguitable doctrine that has as its basis the

principle that it is contrary tequity and good conscience for a defendant to retain a benefit that
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has come to him at the expense of the plaint@&gne v. Vaccar®55 Conn. 390, 409 (2001).
A plaintiff seeking to recover for just enrichment must prove that:

(a) the defendant was benefited,;
(b) the defendant unjustly did not payethlaintiff for the benefits; and
(c) the lack of payment was to the plaintiff's detriment.

See Trenwick Am. Reins. Corp. v. W.R. Berkley Cb88. Conn. App. 741, 754 (2012). The
plaintiff bears the burden to protlee elements of unjust enrichme8ee id.

In Carney v. Lopez-another case arising out of Illlammandi’s Ponzi scheme—I held that
the receiver had “sufficiently pleaded a cldon unjust enrichment” by “alleg[ing] that the
defendants received payments, that they weremiitled to those ganents, and that they
received those benefits at the expenseefdiceivership entities.” 933 F. Supp. 2d at 384. In
conjunction with the facts estabiisd through collateral estopptle same analysis shows that
the receiver is entitled to judgmnteas a matter of law here. As a result of lllarramendi’s illegal
Ponzi scheme, he made approximately $25,844,884yments to which he was not entitled.
See lllarramendi2015 WL 8664174, at *4. Those paymentsevgbtained at the expense of the
Receivership Entities, the victims iarramendi’s fraud. | concludiat “[i]t contrary to equity
and good conscience for [lllarramendi] to retaigrpants . . . in substantial excess of what he
was entitled to retain.3ee Cobalt Multifamilynvestors | v. Shapir® F. Supp. 3d 399, 412
(S.D.N.Y. 2014)accord Town of Stratford v. Castatdi36 Conn. App. 522, 534 (“[U]njust
enrichment results when it is@trary to equity and good consaverfor the defendant to retain a
benefit which has come to him at the expevfste plaintiff.”) (internal quotation marks
omitted). Accordingly, | grant the receiveri®tion for summary judgment with respect to

Count Seven of the Amended Complaint.

29



4. Count Eleven: Money had and received

An action for indebitatus assumpgitoney had and received) “is the equivalent of the
more modern action for unjust enrichmer@dld v. Rowland296 Conn. 186, 202 n.15 (2010).
Although the cause of action seems largely to have been supplanted by unjust enrichment, the
Connecticut Appellate Court hasalyzed a number of claims for money had and received in
recent years, suggesting the continued vitality of the docBee, e.g.Town of Stratford v.
Wilson 151 Conn. App. 39 (2014 astater 136 Conn. App. at 529 (“An action for money had
and received has an ancient pedidgjeé order to recover on a sl a claim, “the plaintiff must
demonstrate that the defendant received monieynbmg to the plaintiff, and benefitted from
receipt of that money Carney v. Monte2014 WL 671263, at *12 (D. Conn. Feb. 21, 2014).

For the same reasons discussed above vsfient to the receiver’s unjust enrichment
claim, the undisputed facts demonstrate as a mattawahat “the plaintiff . . . in equity in good
conscience [is] entitled to the money.” Therefdrgrant the receiver’'s motion for summary

judgment with respect to Counteen of the Amended Complaint.

C. What are the appropriate remedies?

The receiver's damages are detailed smAlmended Declaration of Brian Ong and its
accompanying exhibit§eeDocs. Nos. 106 & 107. In summary, the receiver seeks damages for:

(1) $2,276,594.07 in purported “salary” and “bonus” payments for
lllarramendi from Receivership Entities during 2006, 2007, and 2008;

(2) $1,222,027.00 in purported “partnership distributions” from
Receivership Entities betweere@mber 2006 and January 2010;

(3) $184,633.56 in payments from Receivership Entities to pay mortgage
and maintenance payments for Illarramendi’s 41-foot Meridian luxury
yacht between November 2007 and January 2011,
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(4) $3,112,000.00 in undocumented purported “loans” to lllarramendi
from Receivership Entities between February 2007 and September
2010;

(5) $5,260,427.00 in transfers from Receivership Entities to pay
lllarramendi’s personal tax lidiiies between May 2009 and October
2010;

(6) $3,275,000.00 in transfers from Receivership Entities to Karp Builders
to construct and innovate lllarrand#is luxury home between August
2008 and May 2009;

(7) $9,683,034.62 in other direct and indirect payments from Receivership
Entities to lllarramendi or fatlarramendi’s benefit between
November 2005 and September 2010.

See generallAm. Ong Decl., Doc. No. 106. lotal, the receiver seeks $25,013,7161a5.

The illegitimate payments to lllarrameratifor his benefit are thoroughly documented
by the receiver’s declaration andhits, and lllarramendi does ngpecifically challenge any of
them. The amount of damages sought by thawvercalso roughly equakhe approximately $26
million in “profits [Illarramendi] made from his illegal scheme” that | previously ordered
lllarramendi to pay as part of his criminal caSee lllarramendi2015 WL 8664174, at *4. |
again find that the receiver'methodology . . . is [ ] fair ashreasonable,” and | adopt the
Amended Declaration of Brian Ong and its acconyrag exhibits as the findings of the court.
Accordingly, | hold Illarramendi liable to ¢hReceivership Entitiefor a total of $25,013,716.25,

on the receiver’s claims.

V. Conclusion

| grant the receiver’s motion for summanggment with respect to Counts Six, Seven,
and Eleven of the Amended Comiplal also grant the receiverfaotion with respect to Count

One or Count Ten, but not both.
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Within ten days of the date of this ord#dre receiver shallleé a notice on the docket—
accompanied by the required evidentiary submirssithat states whether he elects to pursue
Count One or Count Ten of the Amended Complafter | have reviewed that submission and
any response from lllarramendi, | will direct thee@ to enter judgment for the receiver against

lllarramendi on the appropriate claims in the appropriate amount, and close the case.

So ordered.
Dated at Bridgeport, Conneatit; this 26th day of March 2018.
/s STEFAN R. UNDERHILL

Stefan R. Underhill
United States District Judge
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